
APPLICATION OF CATE STREET DEVELOPMENT, LLC  

428 US Route One By-Pass (“West End Yards”), Portsmouth, Tax Map 172, Lot 001     

 

APPLICANT’S NARRATIVE 

 

I. THE PROPERTY: 

 

 The applicant, Cate Street Development, LLC, is in the finishing stages of the 

substantial redevelopment of a large tract of land between the Route 1 By-Pass and Cate 

Street, known as the West End Yards, a 250 unit apartment development located in the 

Gateway Corridor, Mixed Residential District. The development also includes 

44,000  square feet of retail and office space.  In addition, the development included a 

land swap for the creation of a new public road, significant improvements to Hodgson 

Brook and a public dog park. Construction of a new City roadway to divert traffic from 

Bartlett Street to the By-Pass has been a goal of the City for over 20 years. The applicant 

worked closely with the City to make this a reality.  

 

 The West End Yards development consists of three buildings on an approximately 

nine acres.  The development covers a large, relatively narrow area that moves east away 

from the By-Pass, and surrounds the U-Haul facility on the By-Pass to the south of Cate 

Street.  The property actually has two points of access from the By-Pass.   Due to these 

factors, and given the multiple uses on the site, which is encouraged in this zone, 

effective signage is very important to the success of the development.   

 

The property is within the G-1 Gateway Corridor District and Sign District 5.  

The applicant proposes to replace the existing Frank Jones Function Center sign with the 

Main Entry “West End Yards” sign depicted on Sheet 1.0 and 1.1.  This will be on the 

northern side of Cate Street at the By-Pass at the signalized intersection.   

 

The project name and branding, including monument signs, wayfinding signs and 

interior and exterior building signage have been thoughtfully designed to pay homage to 

the site’s industrial and railroad-related past.  The design of the main entrance sign 

includes a perimeter of transparent decorative steel framing consistent with this design 

program.  The inclusion of these design elements pushes the sign area to 388.5 square 

feet, where 100 square feet is the maximum allowed.  Accordingly, relief from Section 

10.1251.20 is required. 

 

The applicant also proposes to replace the existing “Happy Summer” sign with a 

freestanding Commercial Building Entry sign for tenant placards, which is depicted on 

Sheet 2.0 and 2.1.  This site has access from both the By-Pass and Cate Street.  A site 

with multiple driveways may have more than one freestanding sign (section 10.1243), 

however, the secondary signs must comply with the requirements of Section 10.1243 and 

10.1251.30.  The proposed sign is approximately 60 square feet1, and therefore, because 

 
1 The applicant proposes installing a 12 foot tall sign, otherwise all dimensions are as shown on Sheet 2.0 

and 2.1, which will be supplemented subsequent to this submission. 



it is on the By-Pass, it exceeds the maximum 40 square feet permitted and relief from 

section 10.1251.30 is required.  

 

 The applicant proposes replacing the signs in their current, conforming locations, 

which exceed 10 feet from the By-Pass.  

 

 

  

II. CRITERIA: 

  

 The applicant believes the within Application meets the criteria necessary for the 

Board to grant the requested variances. 

 

 Granting the requested variance will not be contrary to the spirit and intent 

of the ordinance nor will it be contrary to the public interest.   The “public interest” 

and “spirit and intent” requirements are considered together pursuant to Malachy Glen 

Associates v. Chichester, 152 NH 102 (2007).  The test for whether or not granting a 

variance would be contrary to the public interest or contrary to the spirit and intent of the 

ordinance is whether or not the variance being granted would substantially alter the 

characteristics of the neighborhood or threaten the health, safety and welfare of the 

public.   

 

 In this case, were the variances to be granted, there would be no change in the 

essential characteristics of the neighborhood, nor would any public health, safety or 

welfare be threatened.  This property has been home to a constellation of retail and 

commercial enterprises for over twenty five years and is within the Gateway zone where 

the uses here approved are permitted by right.  It is bounded on both sides by existing 

retail and commercial operations. 

 

 The health, safety and welfare of the public will not be threatened, nor will the 

essential characteristics of the neighborhood change in any way by virtue of the size of 

the signs here proposed.  In fact, the competing signage at the U-Haul facility arguably 

cuts in favor of more prominent signage for this site to properly direct visitors to the 

location.   There is a fully signalized intersection at the main entry, which is the last point 

at which southbound traffic on the By Pass may make a left turn onto the property 

without making a U-turn further south.   Accordingly, prominent signage is appropriate 

for this location.  

 

 

 Substantial justice would be done by granting the variance.  Whether or not 

substantial justice will be done by granting a variance requires the Board to conduct a 

balancing test.  If the hardship upon the owner/applicant outweighs any benefit to the 

general public in denying the variance, then substantial justice would be done by granting 

the variance.  It is substantially just to allow a property owner the reasonable use of his or 

her property.   Here, there are significant challenges to the site that make enhanced 

visibility necessary and desirable.  The lot is large and significant development is set 



back far away from the By-Pass, and obscured from the right of way by the U-Haul 

facility.  Prominent signage is necessary in order to secure and maintain effective and 

reasonable sight lines.  The signs are tastefully designed and in no way promote the 

visual clutter the City’s sign ordinance is meant to protect against.    

 

 It would be an injustice to the applicant to deny the variances here requested.    

 

 The values of surrounding properties will not be diminished by granting the 

variance.   The surrounding properties and those in the vicinity will not be negatively 

affected in any way by this relief.  The proposed signs will enhance the visibility of this 

complex site, which will decrease potential negative impacts on neighboring properties.  

Directing motorists off the By-Pass to this site requires more prominent signage than the 

ordinance contemplates. 

 

 There are special conditions associated with the property which prevent the 

proper enjoyment of the property under the strict terms of the zoning ordinance 

and thus constitute unnecessary hardship.   The property for which relief is sought is 

unique.  It is a large, irregularly shaped lot with frontage in two separate places on the 

By-Pass and on Cate Street.   It completely surrounds and is partially obscured by the U-

Haul facility, which is a very visually busy site.  The property is bounded on the north 

and south by existing commercial uses.  There is a fully signalized intersection at the 

main entry, which is the last point at which southbound traffic on the By Pass may make 

a left turn onto the property without making a U-turn further south.   Accordingly, 

prominent signage is appropriate for this location.      

 

These are special conditions of the property which counsel for more prominent 

signage in order to secure and maintain effective and reasonable sight lines.    

  

 The use is a reasonable use.   The uses proposed are permitted within this district 

and are compatible with the surrounding retail and commercial enterprises and residential 

uses.    

 

  There is no fair and substantial relationship between the purpose of the 

ordinance as it is applied to this particular property.    The purpose of the sign 

ordinance is to maintain and enhance the character of the city's commercial districts and 

to protect the public from hazardous and distracting displays.  Section 10.1211.   Neither 

of the proposed new signs do anything to distract from the character of this district and 

there is nothing hazardous or distracting about them.  There is no fair and substantial 

relationship between these purposes and this property. 

 

 

 

III.  Conclusion. 

 

 For the foregoing reasons, the applicant respectfully requests the Board grant the 

variances as requested and advertised. 



 

      Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 

Dated:  May 26, 2021   By: John K. Bosen                        . 

      John K. Bosen, Esquire 

 

 


























